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 Plaintiff Nevada Partners, Inc. (“NPI”), by its undersigned attorneys, brings this civil action for 

declaratory and injunctive relief based on the following allegations and evidence in this case.  

 Defendants Workforce Connections and Jaime Cruz violated the United States Constitution, the 

Nevada Constitution, federal law, state law, and their own official policies and procedures by 

mismanaging their process for distributing $14,950,000 of government grants and contracts. As 

Southern Nevada’s officially designated Local Workforce Development Board, Workforce 

Connections is responsible for selecting grantees and contractors for government funds and 

programs under the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (“WIOA”). Defendants badly 

mismanaged their most recent round of requests for proposals (“RFPs”) for funds and contracts. 

Their process was marred by unlawful conflicts of interest, procedural irregularities, and improper 

bias. It was inherently defective and insufficient. 

 Defendants’ unlawful mismanagement of the RFP process jeopardizes the programs that Plaintiff 

Nevada Partners, Inc. has been providing to thousands of members of the Southern Nevada 

community for the last 27 years. Had Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz followed the law and 

their own official procedures, Nevada Partners would have received—or at least would have had 

the opportunity to compete on a level playing field for—a fair share of the available WIOA 

government funds. 

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 This is an action for declaratory relief and injunctive relief to enjoin Defendant Workforce 

Connections, its Executive Director Defendant Jaime Cruz, and its agents from further 

implementing and carrying out recommendations to award $10 million to ResCare Workforce 

Services and nothing to Plaintiff NPI based on Workforce Connections’ 2018 Requests for 

Proposals under the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act. See 29 U.S.C. § 3101 et seq. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 (federal question 

jurisdiction) and 1343(3) and (4) (jurisdiction over actions for violations of constitutional and 

federal rights secured by 42 U.S.C. § 1983), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202 (jurisdiction over 

declaratory relief actions).  
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 This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s pendent state constitutional and 

statutory law claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

 Plaintiff is an organization residing in this judicial district and incorporated in the State of Nevada. 

 Defendant Workforce Connections is based in this judicial district, operates as a governmental unit 

of government entities located in this judicial district, and is an agent of municipalities located in 

this judicial district. 

 Defendant Jaime Cruz resides and works in this judicial district. 

 Plaintiff’s claims arise out of Defendants’ activities in this judicial district. 

 Venue is therefore proper in this district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).  

III. PARTIES 

 Plaintiff NEVADA PARTNERS, INCORPORATED is a Nevada non-profit corporation that 

provides education, employment, and training services to Southern Nevada’s most vulnerable 

youth, adults, and dislocated workers. Its principal place of business is in North Las Vegas, 

Nevada. Established in 1992, NPI has been providing workforce development services to the 

Southern Nevada community for more than 27 years. In addition, since 2002, NPI has been 

providing services to the community under the federal Workforce Investment Act and the 

Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act. 

 Defendant WORKFORCE CONNECTIONS is the State of Nevada’s official Local Workforce 

Development Board for Southern Nevada. Workforce Connections oversees the duties of regional 

workforce development outlined by the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act of 2014. 

Workforce Connections oversees approximately $17.8 million of Title I-B funding to serve the 

Southern Nevada Workforce Development Area. Workforce Connections operates out of its 

headquarters at 6330 West Charleston Boulevard, Suite 150, Las Vegas, NV 89146. 

 Defendant JAIME CRUZ (“Mr. Cruz”) is Executive Director of Defendant Workforce 

Connections. Mr. Cruz is a resident of Nevada. His business address is 6330 West Charleston 

Boulevard, Suite 150, Las Vegas, NV 89146. Mr. Cruz has been employed by Workforce 

Connections for approximately 10 years. Since October 2017, he has been its Executive Director. 
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IV. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

 Defendant Workforce Connections is set to distribute contracts and millions of dollars in 

government grants based on faulty, improper, and unlawful requests for proposals and grant-

making processes. Workforce Connections selects grantees to receive funds and provide services 

under the federal Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (“WIOA”). Its process for doing so 

is subject to restrictions by the U.S. Constitution, the Nevada Constitution, federal and state law, 

and Workforce Connections’ own policies and procedures. In its recent Request for Proposal 

(“RFP”) process, it violated each. 

 As explained in detail in this Complaint, the RFP process was plagued by conflicts of interest, 

procedural irregularities, bias against NPI, and bias in favor of another entity, ResCare Workforce 

Services. These problems materially harmed NPI and the thousands of Nevadans it serves. 

Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz deprived NPI of the grants and contracts it would have been 

awarded under a fair, proper, and lawful RFP process, and deprived NPI of the chance to compete 

for those grants and contracts on a level playing field. 

 Arbor E&T, LLC d/b/a ResCare Workforce Services (“RWS”) is a limited liability company 

incorporated in the Commonwealth of Kentucky on November 19, 2002. RWS is a wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Res-Care, Inc., a for-profit corporation founded and headquartered in Louisville, 

Kentucky. Res-Care, Inc. is the largest diversified health and human services provider in the 

United States. It has over 50,000 employees companywide. RWS, Res-Care, Inc.’s workforce 

services business line, is the largest for-profit collection of workforce services in the United States, 

which comprises of over 2,600 employees and over 400 operations established throughout the 

United States. In 2014, RWS generated annual revenues of $169 million. 

 Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz improperly stacked the deck against NPI and in favor of 

RWS in their most recent WIOA grant-making process, which is the subject of this Complaint. 

The Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

 The United States Congress enacted the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act in 2014 as a 

way to improve and streamline access to federally funded employment, education, training, and 

support services. The WIOA seeks to address the needs of businesses and workers through state 
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and local boards and support services to communities in which they are located. Under the WIOA, 

“One-Stop” centers, public employment offices originally established under its predecessor, the 

Workforce Investment Act (“WIA”), and reauthorized under the WIOA. These One-Stop centers 

offer training referrals, career counseling, job listings, and similar employment-related services.  

 The WIOA requires the establishment and certification of a local development board in each local 

area of a state, in order to carry out responsibilities and functions established under the federal 

statute. Once every two years, the governor of the state certifies one local board for each local area 

in the state. The local board, in partnership with the chief elected official for the local area 

involved, must develop and submit to the governor a four-year local plan, which includes a 

description of the competitive process to be used to award subgrants and contracts in the local area 

for activities carried out under the WIOA. 29 U.S.C. § 3123(b)(16). In addition, the WIOA requires 

that the local board identify eligible providers of youth workforce investment activities in the local 

area by awarding grants or contracts on a competitive basis. 29 U.S.C. § 3122(d)(1)(B)(i). 

Defendant Workforce Connections is the official local board for Southern Nevada. 

 The WIOA identifies a list of “primary indicators of performance” for activities authorized under 

it, including the adult and dislocated worker programs authorized under chapter 3 of subtitle B of 

the WIOA (Title I Adult and Dislocated Worker Programs), as well as a list of “primary indicators” 

for the youth programs authorized under chapter 2 of subtitle B (Title I Youth Services Programs). 

These “primary indicators” allow the states and local areas to “establish performance 

accountability measures that apply across the core programs” to assess the effectiveness in 

achieving positive outcomes for individuals served by those programs. 29 U.S.C. § 3141(a).  

 Each local area must include the primary indicators of performance described in 29 U.S.C. 

§ 3141(b)(2)(A), as well as any additional indicators of performance identified by the state, in their 

local performance accountability measures for each program authorized under the WIOA. 29 

U.S.C. § 3141(c). If a local area fails to meet the performance accountability measures established 

under the WIOA for the youth, adult, or dislocated programs authorized under the WIOA, the 

governor or the secretary of labor may intervene and help the local area develop a performance 

improvement plan or a modified local plan. 29 U.S.C. § 3141(g)(1). If such failure continues for 
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three consecutive years, however, the governor may take corrective actions, including by 

prohibiting the use of eligible providers and one-stop partners who are achieving a poor level of 

performance or by any other significant actions as the governor determines appropriate. 29 U.S.C. 

§ 3141(g)(2).  

 Nevada law implementing the WIOA (and the older WIA) sets out requirements for the Governor’s 

Workforce Investment Board, which is now referred to as the Governor’s Workforce Development 

Board. See, e.g., NRS 232.935. Workforce Connections is the Southern Nevada Local Workforce 

Development Board under WIOA, a separate but related entity.  

 Among the state board’s requirements is a mandate to adopt “Guidelines for the submission and 

review of applications to receive grants of money from the Department [of Employment, Training, 

and Rehabilitation].” NRS 232.935(4)(d)(1). On information and belief, Workforce Connections 

and Mr. Cruz violated those guidelines and Nevada law implementing the WIOA and the WIA 

through their actions described in this Complaint. These violations are in addition to violations of 

more specific provisions of the WIOA itself and other claims described herein. 

Defendant Workforce Connections Distributes Millions of Dollars in WIOA Grants as Southern 

Nevada’s Official Local Workforce Development Board                                                                   

and Is Subject to State and Federal Restrictions 

 Workforce Connections is Southern Nevada’s official Local Workforce Development Board. 

Workforce Connections is responsible for the operation of the One-Stop Delivery System in the 

Southern Nevada Local Workforce Development Area. As described on the Nevada Department 

of Employment, Training, and Rehabilitation webpage, Workforce Connections and the local 

board for Northern Nevada “administer the [WIOA] program in their respective geographic areas 

where they are responsible for providing both worker and employer services.” Nevada Dep’t of 

Emp., Training, and Rehabilitation, http://nvdetr.org/. On information and belief, the Governor of 

Nevada selected and certified Workforce Connections as Southern Nevada’s official Local 

Workforce Development Board to implement WIOA.  

 Workforce Connections’ geographical jurisdiction includes the Southern Nevada counties of 

Clark, Nye, Lincoln, and Esmerelda. Workforce Connections is the administrative entity 
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responsible for the disbursal of grant funds described under Section 107 of the WIOA, which sets 

out the responsibilities of the established Local Workforce Development Boards. 29 U.S.C. 

§ 3122(d)(12)(B)(i)(III).  

 In compliance with the WIOA, Workforce Connections has published a four-year plan (“the WC 

Plan”), which includes a description of the competitive process to be used to award the subgrants 

and contracts in the local area for activities carried out under the WIOA. Workforce Connections 

states that all competitions “shall be conducted in a manner that provides, to the maximum extent 

practical, free and open competition to all interested parties.” Workforce Connections uses the 

Request for Proposal method of procurement when there is more than one applicant. According to 

the WC Plan, the RFP “must also meet the generally prescribed standards for ‘full and open 

competition.’” Four-Year Local Plan for Southern Nevada’s Workforce Development Area, 

Workforce Connections 40 (Oct. 20, 2016), https://nvworkforceconnections.org/wp-

content/uploads/2016/11/WC-Four-Year-Local-Plan-Executed-and-Searchable-July-2016-June-

2020.pdf.   

Plaintiff Nevada Partners Seeks Grants from Defendant Workforce Connections in Order to 

Provide Services for the Southern Nevada Community 

 Plaintiff Nevada Partners, Inc., has provided education, employment, and training services to 

youth, adults, and dislocated workers in the Southern Nevada community since 1992. From 2002 

to 2014, under the WIA of 1998, NPI provided over $24 million worth of services to the 

community. In 2015, after the WIOA superseded the WIA, NPI applied for and was awarded over 

$9 million to provide WIOA services to the Southern Nevada Local Workforce Development Area 

between 2015 through 2018.  

 Under Workforce Connections’ unfair RFP process, NPI would receive no WIOA grants for the 

next three-year round of funding. WIOA (and previously WIA) grants are one of NPI’s most 

significant sources of funding. This will necessitate drastic cuts to NPI’s services. 

 NPI has been an integral part of the Southern Nevada community, including the State of Nevada’s 

Congressional Districts 1, 3, and 4. In the last five years alone, NPI has assisted 11,444 residents 

with job readiness services, aided residents in receiving $4.7 million from federal tax returns, and 
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has provided $19.7 million in down payment assistance to first time home buyers. Furthermore, 

within the last 3.5 years—through WIOA—NPI has enrolled 1,358 clients to receive adult and 

youth services, expending over $7.3 million to date, accomplishing the goal of providing residents 

with access to employment, education, and training. Indeed, in the last 3.5 years, NPI’s service 

area, the neighborhoods residing within the 89106 and 89030 zip codes, has experienced a decrease 

in unemployment from 17.2 percent to 12.5 percent. The nearly 5 percent decrease is almost double 

the decrease seen in the state overall.  

 Moreover, NPI is often acknowledged as the premier workforce organization in Nevada. NPI has 

received numerous awards and accolades for its service in the Southern Nevada community from 

community members and elected officials—including from Workforce Connections itself. In 

2014, the White House recognized NPI as a Model Workforce Training program—an accolade 

reserved for only 30 organizations in the nation. NPI was the only service provider in Nevada to 

receive this recognition. In 2015 (before Mr. Cruz began as Workforce Connections’ Executive 

Director), Workforce Connections awarded NPI the Workforce Connections Workforce 

Development Champion Award for the “Outstanding Organization” category. In addition, former 

Nevada Senator Harry Reid called NPI “a wonderful organization helping the people of Southern 

Nevada achieve economic security.”  

 In 2014, NPI received $2.7 million in the form of a community development block grant from 

Clark County to expand NPI’s services and develop a new regional workforce development center 

(“the NPI Center”). NPI also received a $500,000 community development block grant from the 

City of North Las Vegas for the development of the NPI Center. From 2015 through 2018, NPI 

devoted a substantial amount of resources toward the NPI Center. NPI intended to use its new 

building not only to expand its current WIOA services, but also to offer new opportunities and 

amenities to the community, such as a new pre-apprenticeship program, a community center, 

career counseling, job fairs, and STEM occupational skills training programs, such as unmanned 

aerial systems (drone), healthcare, and film production training. Without its WIOA funding, NPI 

will not be able to make full use of the NPI Center. 
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 NPI serves all members of the Southern Nevada community regardless of race, ethnicity, or any 

other factor so long as they are eligible for services. 

Workforce Connections’ Unprecedented and Improper                                                                                   

November 8, 2018 WIOA Requests for Proposals 

 On November 8, 2018, Workforce Connections released WIOA RFPs for Title I Adult and 

Dislocated Worker Services in One-Stop Centers, Title I Youth Services, and Title I Youth 

Services – YouthBuild Las Vegas (collectively, “the 2018 WIOA RFPs”). The submission 

deadline for the 2018 WIOA RFPs was January 18, 2019 at 2:00 p.m. Pacific Time. The 2018 

WIOA RFPs all stated that “[t]he proposal review and evaluation process [would] be conducted 

utilizing a fair and objective process that adheres to WFC’s Procurement Policy and all other 

applicable State and Federal regulations.” It was anything but. 

 On information and belief, Workforce Connections’ Executive Director Defendant Jaime Cruz 

directed and oversaw the 2018 WIOA RFPs. 

 Workforce Connections changed its RFP process in ways that helped RWS and harmed NPI 

without legitimate reasons for doing so. 

 Unlike prior RFPs, the 2018 WIOA RFPs established a new “cash match” requirement. Under this 

requirement, any grant recipients must provide at least two percent of the “non-participant portion” 

of the grant amount as cash “matching” funds. The non-participant portion of the budget is defined 

as all expenses, not including participant training and supportive services. Neither prior 

investments nor federal resources, such as other federal grant awards or funds that were originally 

provided through federal funding, may be counted toward the matching funds threshold. Moreover, 

unlike prior years, the “cash-match” funds must be committed specifically to support the grant 

project.  

 In addition to the cash-match requirement, the 2018 WIOA RFPs maintained the already-

established “in-kind match” requirement. The “in-kind match” requirement states that applicants 

must also provide additional cash or in-kind matching resources totaling at least three percent of 

the non-participant portion of the grant award. Unlike the “cash-match” funds, the “in-kind match” 

resources historically have not needed to be committed specifically to support the grant project. 
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 Several of the prior service providers and current applicants for the 2018 WIOA RFPs are primarily 

funded by federal funds. Accordingly, service providers—including NPI, but unlike RWS—could 

not apply for the full amount of available funding under the 2018 WIOA RFPs either because they 

did not have the required funds to commit specifically to the grant project, or because any funds 

that they could direct toward the cash match were originally provided through federal funding. 

Several service providers had to “partner up” with other service providers and submitted joint 

proposals in order to meet both the cash and in-kind match requirements. On information and 

belief, several service providers were not able to submit proposals because they did not have the 

resources to meet the required match. 

 Like many other service providers, NPI was not able to apply for the full amount of funding due 

to its inability to meet the cash-match requirement. For example, NPI originally requested funding 

for $1,000,000 to provide Title I Youth pre-entry program services. In order to adhere to the match 

requirement, however, NPI was forced to reduce its request to $850,000. Similarly, NPI needed to 

reduce its funding requests to provide Title I Youth in-school/out-of-school program services from 

$2,000,000 to $1,625,000. Furthermore, in order to find matching funds for its funding requests to 

provide Title I Adult and Dislocated Worker program services, NPI needed to partner with the 

Foundation for an Independent Tomorrow, another applicant. NPI was unable to apply for any 

funds to provide Title I Youth Services – YouthBuild Las Vegas program services because it did 

not have any more matching funds available. Prior to the 2018 WIOA RFPs and its cash-match 

requirement, NPI and other service providers did not have difficulty applying for the full amount 

of funding. 

 Notably, the new cash-match requirement did not affect ResCare Workforce Services, another 

applicant in the 2018 WIOA RFP process. Despite the new cash-match requirement, RWS had the 

resources to apply for the full amount of funding available in every subgrant available under the 

2018 WIOA RFPs. In other words, the new cash-match requirement limited the amount of grants 

for which NPI could apply, but it did not limit RWS. This is just one of several facts that indicate 

that Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz unfairly treated RWS as their preferred grantee without 

a basis for doing so and to NPI’s detriment. 
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 There was no legitimate reason for Workforce Connections to change its practice and require the 

“cash match” and “in-kind match.” 

Workforce Connections Not Only Showed an Improper Bias Against NPI, 

It Also Showed an Improper Bias in Favor of ResCare Workforce Services 

 Throughout the 2018 WIOA RFP process, Defendant Workforce Connections, its Executive 

Director Defendant Mr. Cruz, and its Board of Directors displayed a significant improper bias in 

favor of RWS and against NPI.  

 Workforce Connections is set to distribute $14,950,000 worth of government grants and contracts 

as part of the 2018 WIOA RFP process. Ten million dollars of that amount is earmarked for RWS. 

None is set to go to NPI despite NPI’s long and excellent track record. 

 On May 26, 2015, Workforce Connections approved RWS as the One-Stop Center operator for 

the Southern Nevada Workforce Development Area and awarded $2.45 million from July 1, 2015 

to June 30, 2016. “Operators” are charged with coordinating service delivery among service 

providers, like NPI, at One-Stop Centers.1 The responsibilities of a One-Stop Center operator can 

include managing the hours of operation, ensuring that basic services are available, implementing 

the local workforce development board policy, and reporting to the local board on operations, 

performance, and continuous improvement recommendations. Notably, a One-Stop Center 

operator does not provide or develop the physical services of core programs.  

 When RWS was assigned as the One-Stop Center operator, the One-Stop Center was established 

in the Workforce Connections building. Accordingly, RWS operated out of the same building as 

Workforce Connections. On January 13, 2016, RWS was awarded another $2.45 million to 

continue work as a One-Stop operator out of the One-Stop Center located at Workforce 

                                                 
1 Established under the WIOA, One-Stop Centers are public employment offices that offer training 

referrals, career counseling, job listings, and other employment-related services. They are considered a 

“one-stop” location that can provide access to physical services of core programs (e.g., WIOA Title I 

Adult, Dislocated Worker and Youth formula programs administered by the Department of Labor, Adult 

Education and Literacy Act programs administered by the Department of Education, etc.). Most service 

providers that receive WIOA subgrants are required to provide access through One-Stop Centers. 
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Connections’ building. During this same meeting, RWS was also awarded an additional $250,000 

in Title I Adult & Dislocated Worker funds “for staffing adjustments and training and supportive 

services funds.” Despite RWS’s new responsibilities as a service provider, RWS’s Nevada 

headquarters remained in the Workforce Connections building.2 

 By February 9, 2016, Workforce Connections had awarded RWS another $500,000 in the form of 

National Emergency Grant funds to be expended on WIOA training activities for eligible 

dislocated workers. At this point, RWS had a staff of 15 or more employees working out of the 

One-Stop Center at Workforce Connections’ building.  

 On June 15, 2016, the Workforce Connections Programs Committee accepted the Workforce 

Connections staff’s recommendation to award RWS another $3 million in WIOA Title I Adults 

and Dislocated Workers funds. At this point, RWS was receiving funds and offering training 

programs as a service provider. Like other service providers, RWS offered trainings and programs 

at Workforce Connections’ building. Unlike the other service providers, however, RWS’s Nevada 

service provider operations were also based out of Workforce Connections’ building. 

 On October 5, 2016, at a Workforce Connections Sub-Recipients Monthly Meeting, Workforce 

Connections informed  service providers offering programs at Workforce Connections’ One-Stop 

Career Center that all service providers would be required to transition their programs out of 

Workforce Connections’ building. Service providers were instructed that Southern Nevada’s 

libraries would now serve as One-Stop Centers, and each service provider would offer training 

programs at their assigned libraries instead of Workforce Connections’ building. That is, all service 

providers except RWS. For reasons unexplained, RWS was assigned to the Clark County Library 

and Belrose Library but was also allowed to continue operating as a service provider out of 

Workforce Connections’ building. 

                                                 
2 37 C.F.R. § 678.625 dictates that a one-stop operator may also be a service provider, but there must be 

appropriate firewalls in place in regard to the competition, and subsequent oversight, monitoring, and 

evaluation of performance of the service provider. Notably, “[t]he operator cannot develop, manage, or 

conduct the competition of a service provider in which it intends to compete.” 37 C.F.R. § 678.625. 
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 On March 21, 2017, Workforce Connections awarded a 14-month renewable contract to KRA 

Corp. (“KRA”) to serve as the One-Stop operator for the Southern Nevada Workforce 

Development Area, with an option to renew up to three additional years.3 KRA’s responsibilities 

included the day-to-day management of the One-Stop Center located at Workforce Connections’ 

Building, as well as the One-Stop Centers located throughout Southern Nevada’s local libraries. 

As a result, RWS no longer served as the One-Stop operator for the Southern Nevada Workforce 

Development Area. RWS thus had no legitimate reason to continue basing its work out of 

Workforce Connections’ building. Despite this change, RWS continues to this day to base its entire 

Nevada operations out of Workforce Connections’ building. No other service provider was given 

the option to continue to work out of the Workforce Connections’ building. 

 During and before the 2018 WIOA RFP process, Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz have 

treated RWS as a favored entity for no discernible reason and to NPI’s detriment. 

Workforce Connections’ Obstructive and Improper Conduct                                            

Throughout the 2018 WIOA RFP Process 

 Workforce Connections also made the 2018 WIOA RFP process more difficult and cumbersome 

for NPI than for others similarly situated. It appeared to specifically target NPI and move to hinder 

its success in the RFP process and its ability to compete on a level playing field. On December 17, 

2018, Yvette Thomas, NPI’s Director of Human Resources, notified Workforce Connections that 

NPI would be closed for the holidays from December 24, 2018 to January 2, 2019. On December 

23, 2018, the Sunday before NPI closed for the holidays, Workforce Connections provided notice 

to NPI that the Workforce Connections Compliance Assurance Team would conduct an on-site 

WIOA programmatic fiscal and EEO monitoring review (“the WIOA monitoring process”) from 

January 7, 2019 through January 18, 2019. January 18, 2019 was also the submission deadline for 

the 2018 WIOA RFPs. In their notice, Workforce Connections informed NPI that they anticipated 

the review to be complete by 4:00 p.m. on January 18, 2019. The submission deadline for the 2018 

WIOA RFPs was 2:00 p.m. on January 18, 2019.  

                                                 
3 RWS did not submit a proposal during the One-Stop operator RFP process for this contract period 

(May 1, 2017 through June 30, 2018). 
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 Workforce Connection’s Christmas Eve decision to schedule the burdensome WIOA monitoring 

process for NPI over the eleven days immediately before NPI’s RFP submission deadline made 

the process unnecessarily cumbersome for NPI. There was no legitimate reason to do so. 

 The on-site WIOA monitoring process is an extremely intensive process because it requires a 

review of all fiscal and administrative documents from the bidding agency, which must be 

available on-site on the first day of the process. Accordingly, from the time NPI returned from the 

holidays on January 2, 2019 until January 7, 2019, NPI had to devote significant resources and 

time to collecting the requested documents: documents related to NPI’s invoices and source 

documentation, procurement, internal controls, cost allocation, budget controls, policy review, and 

overall fiscal management of NPI’s Title I contracts, and more. Moreover, from January 7, 2019—

when Workforce Connections began its monitoring process—to January 18, 2019, the NPI staff, 

including NPI’s department directors, were expected to be available at all times to answer 

questions, collect documents, and participate in meetings requested by the Workforce Connections 

monitoring team.  

Workforce Connections’ Improper Conduct Continued After the RFP Submission Deadline 

 On January 25, 2019, one week after the submission deadline for the 2018 WIOA RFPs, 

Workforce Connections sent an email to applicants stating that it was going to make post-hoc 

amendments to the 2018 WIOA RFPs. Workforce Connections made these amendments adjusting 

the RFPs after it had a week to review all of the applicants’ final RFP submissions. 

 Workforce Connections amended the RFPs after seeing the finalized applications in a manner that 

harmed NPI’s application and helped RWS’s application. 

 What is more, Workforce Connections sent the notice of its post-hoc adjustments to all applicants 

except Plaintiff NPI.4  

  Workforce Connections’ post-hoc adjustments to the requirements of the 2018 WIOA RFPs came 

in the form of three addenda, which were posted on the Workforce Connections website on January 

                                                 
4 Workforce Connections sent the notice to an incorrect email address for NPI. Workforce Connection did 

not send a follow-up notice to NPI’s correct email address. Accordingly, NPI did not receive notice of the 

anticipated addenda until another applicant forwarded the notice to NPI. 
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29, 2019. Although the first two addenda were dated November 14, 2018, applicants did not 

receive notice of these until January 29, 2019, when they were posted on the Workforce 

Connections website. The first addendum removed “past performance” as a factor for evaluation. 

There is no rational reason that “past performance” should not have been a key factor in the RFP 

evaluation process, as it was in the original Requests for Proposals.  

 Notably, the removal of “past performance” as a factor necessarily favored RWS, which had 

received multiple “pink paper” violation notices. Pink papers indicate that a service provider is not 

in compliance with local performance accountability measures, which consider factors such as the 

results of the service provider’s programs or the proportion of subgrant funding allocated toward 

certain services—simply put, factors that consider past performance. Moreover, removal of past 

performance as a consideration in the RFP process disfavored NPI, which has a long track record 

of exemplary service in the Southern Nevada community, and which has consistently met, if not 

outperformed, the local performance metrics. Workforce Connections did not provide any 

explanation as to why it was removing this important factor from the evaluation.  

 Removal of the “past performance” criteria violated Workforce Connections’ own policies. Its 

Administrative Policy for Procurement Acquisition (as revised and effective July 1, 2016) controls 

for its WIOA grants. That policy requires RFP files to include “Documentation of the 

determination of demonstrated performance” of the RFP applicant. 

 In addition, on February 20, 2019, the 2018 WIOA RFP applicants, including Plaintiff NPI, 

received a meeting invitation, asking them to reserve Thursday, February 28, 2019 for possible 

Selection Panel interviews. On February 27, 2019, however, Workforce Connections informed the 

applicants that the Selection Panel had met and did not request interviews.5 This marked the first 

year since 2015 in which interviews were announced but not carried out. 

                                                 
5 During a March 13, 2019 meeting, the Workforce Connections board explained that no interviews 

were conducted because the Ad-hoc Selection Panel reached unanimous consensus.  
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 Had Workforce Connections set out its amended requirements from the outset—instead of one 

week after applications were due—NPI would have had the opportunity to tailor its application to 

those criteria. 

Workforce Connections Is Set to Finalize and Distribute Millions of Dollars in 

Government Grants Based on Its Faulty RFP Process 

 Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz took several steps to award a disproportionate and 

unreasonable amount of grants to RWS based on their unlawful process. 

 At least 10 different organizations applied for grants as part of Workforce Connections’ 2018 

WIOA RFP process. 

 Workforce Connections is set to finalize and distribute $14,950,000 in WIOA grants and contracts 

to some of those organizations. It is set to finalize and distribute $10,000,000 of the available 

$14,950,000 to RWS.  It is set to distribute no WIOA grants or contracts to NPI, despite NPI’s 

long-running success and service to the community. 

 In March and April, 2019, Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz took several steps toward 

awarding the $10,000,000 to RWS. At a high level, and as explained in more detail infra: 

a. On March 7, 2019, Workforce Connections released a document showing that its Programs 

Committee planned to vote on a recommendation from its Ad-hoc Selection Committee to 

award $10,000,000 of the available $14,950,000 to RWS and nothing to NPI. 

b. On March 13, 2019, and April 2, 2019, the Workforce Connections Programs Committee 

met, discussed, and subsequently approved that recommendation. 

c. On April 9, 2019, the Workforce Connections Board of Directors met to vote on finalizing 

WIOA funding from the 2018 RFP process as recommended by the Workforce 

Connections Programs Committee. It deferred doing so, however, until a Board of 

Directors meeting that is set for May 9, 2019. 

 On March 7, 2019, Workforce Connections released its meeting agenda for the Workforce 

Connections Programs Committee meeting on March 13, 2019. The meeting agenda stated that 

the Programs Committee would vote on whether to award $10,000,000 of the total $14,950,000 
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available to RWS, based on the Ad-hoc Selection Panel’s recommendation. The Ad-hoc Selection 

Panel had recommended that no Title I funding be awarded to NPI.  

 The follow-up Workforce Connections Board packet to the meeting agenda included a discussion 

of the evaluation process for the 2018 WIOA RFP submissions. The packet included evaluation 

forms of 2018 WIOA RFP submissions by the purportedly independent third-party contractor 

Social Policy Research Associates (“SPRA”) that Workforce Connections apparently engaged for 

this process, SPRA’s evaluation notes, and the Ad-hoc Selection Panel’s consensus rankings and 

associated notes.  

 A review of the evaluation documents, however, revealed discrepancies between the evaluation 

comments and the ultimate scores and rankings for each applicant. For example, SPRA’s 

evaluation summary notes on NPI’s bid for Title I Adult and Dislocated Worker funding allege 

that the proposal “does not included detailed descriptions of [the internal and quality control] 

systems in place.” NPI’s proposal, however, included an extensive discussion of all of the internal 

and quality control systems in place, detailing NPI’s tiered monitoring process.  

 SPRA’s evaluation summary also considered how “thoroughly” the applicants described “past 

successes [applicants] have had in similar projects.” SPRA, however, could not consider the full 

extent of NPI’s past successes. SPRA did not have the opportunity to view NPI’s submitted past 

“performance metrics” form because Workforce Connections inexplicably removed “past 

performance” as a consideration in the 2018 WIOA RFP Process.  

 Furthermore, SPRA’s evaluation notes on NPI’s two Title I Youth Services proposals are similarly 

riddled with discrepancies and errors. For example, on the “matching resources” factor, SPRA’s 

notes are the same: “Although the first part of the answer is hard to substantiate, the in-kind match 

through FIT is substantial.” At no point do either of NPI’s Title I Youth Services proposals discuss 

an in-kind match with the Foundation of an Independent Tomorrow. This is because NPI does not 

have an in-kind match with the Foundation of an Independent Tomorrow for the Title I Youth 

Services proposals. SPRA’s inaccurate, copy-paste analysis is just one of problems that shows the 

2018 WIOA RFP process was deficient. 
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 NPI was not the only 2018 WIOA RFP applicant to notice these discrepancies. During the March 

13, 2019 Workforce Connections meeting, several representatives of other 2018 WIOA RFP 

applicants that lost out to RWS raised concerns about the arbitrary and capricious nature of the 

summary notes and ultimate rankings.  

 In addition, the March 13, 2019 Workforce Connections Board packet reported that RWS had five 

open “pink papers,” indicating lack of compliance with the WIOA’s established “primary 

indicators of performance.”  

 At the time, several of RWS’s Title I Adult and Dislocated Worker training operations did not 

meet the requirements of their sub-award agreement and needed corrective action. For example, 

as of invoices submitted through December 31, 2018, RWS’s Boulder City/Laughlin Title I Adult 

and Dislocated Worker program only expended 14 percent of its total expenditures on training 

activities—far below the required 40 percent minimum. Similarly, as of invoices submitted 

through December 31, 2018, its Mesquite Title I Adult and Dislocated Worker program only 

expended 10 percent of the required 40 percent in total expenditures on training activities.  

 NPI did not have and currently does not have any pink papers.  

 Accordingly, during the March 13, 2019 meeting, several community members, including 

community leaders, small business owners, youth participants in the Nevada WIOA programs, and 

law enforcement officials, came forward to voice their concerns about the significant grant award 

recommendations to RWS. For over two-and-a-half hours, members of the public stated, among 

other comments, “we believe this process of the RFP is broken down”; “we didn’t have an 

interview, we didn’t have a process to even show our true capabilities, and [our interview was] 

cancelled the day before . . . and it is very frustrating that this body has elected to have a process 

that is not a good process”; and “I don’t think that it was fair to those who applied to that process.”  

 In addition, members of the community expressed their confusion as to why so many service-

providers with strong performance and community relationships were defunded in favor of RWS. 

For example, Delilah Martel, the Talent Acquisition Partner with CVS Health, spoke in support of 

NPI’s role in the development of CVS’s new in-bound call center and pharmacy specialty facility. 

Ms. Martel explained that “NPI was instrumental in providing us with [] community networks, as 
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well as facilitating an information presentation” with over 300 attendees. And she emphasized that 

corporate leaders at CVS Health encouraged her to attend the Workforce Connections Programs 

Committee meeting to support NPI.  

 Similarly, Kim Amato, the founder and executive director of Baby’s Bounty, explained that her 

non-profit organization has been working with NPI for over 10 years, and that the quality of NPI’s 

candidates is “amazing.” 

 The public comment session also revealed concerns that RWS’s operations are significantly further 

away from the people who need services than are the locations of the defunded service providers. 

This would impose hardships on the neighborhoods that these providers currently serve. For 

example, Gene Collins, a former State assemblyman who served two terms as president of the 

NAACP in Las Vegas, stated, “The only thing we are asking [for]—the same thing that you have 

in your community, allow us to have the same thing in our community . . . . We don’t see the 

benefit of our tax dollars.” 

 The March 13, 2019 meeting also revealed that certain members of the Workforce Connections 

Programs Committee had been previously unaware of the issues plaguing the 2018 WIOA RFP 

process and were alarmed with the Ad-hoc Selection Panel’s recommendations. Dr. Cecelia 

Maldonado noted that as long as she has been on the Programs Committee, and during her previous 

time serving on the Workforce Connections board, “NPI has never had an issue.” Dr. Maldonado 

questioned why the Ad-hoc Selection Panel recommended eliminating NPI’s funding “when they 

have been so prolific in the work that we do.”  

 Another Programs Committee member who asked to be involved with the Ad-hoc Selection Panel 

was informed that there is a “quorum issue” and therefore “not everyone who wants to be, can be 

involved.” 

 Despite these significant concerns about RWS potentially being awarded outsized grants, during 

the meeting, several members of the Workforce Connections board were disengaged, did not pay 

attention during public comment, and engaged in other unprofessional behavior. Several of the 

youth participants noted that a Workforce Connections board member gave them the impression 
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that their voices did not matter because they observed her sending text messages and laughing 

during public comment. 

 The committee ultimately decided to table the discussion on voting on the Selection Panel’s 

recommendations for a later meeting and stated that they would consider reintroducing Selection 

Panel interviews. Workforce Connections did not reintroduce Selection Panel interviews for the 

2018 WIOA RFP process.  

The Follow-Up Meeting and NPI’s Open Meeting Request 

 On March 18, 2019, Lizette Guillen, the Director of Administrative Services at NPI, submitted a 

written request to Mr. Cruz, asking for notice of the Programs Committee continuation meeting. 

That same day, Mr. Cruz referred Ms. Guillen to Workforce Connections Quality Assurance 

Manager Emilio Pias. Mr. Pias responded by email, stating that notice would be sent as soon as 

the date and time were set for the continuation meeting. 

 Under Nevada’s Open Meeting Law, written notice of all public body meetings must be given at 

least three working days before the meeting, except in an emergency. NRS 241.020. Moreover, 

Nevada’s Open Meeting Law requires that the public body provide a copy of the notice to any 

person who has requested notice. NRS 241.020(3)(c).  

 The Programs Committee continuation meeting was ultimately set for April 2, 2019, but the notice 

was not posted on Friday, March 29, 2019. Accordingly, Workforce Connections did not meet the 

minimum notice requirement of providing at least three working days of written notice before the 

day of the April 2 meeting.  

 Moreover, Emilio Pias and Workforce Connections did not send any notice to NPI about the April 

2, 2019 meeting despite Ms. Guillen’s written request for notice.  

 By the time Workforce Connections set the Programs Committee continuation meeting for April 

2, 2019, the Selection Panel’s suspect recommendations to award $10,000,000 of the total 

$14,950,000 Title 1 funding to RWS had not only inflamed the Southern Nevada community, but 

a certain minority of the Programs Committee itself. Indeed, on April 2, 2019, Programs 

Committee member Dr. Cecilia Maldonado sent a letter to Mr. Cruz and Irene Bustamante Adams, 

the Deputy Director & Chief Strategy Officer of Workforce Connections. In her letter, Dr. 

Case 2:19-cv-00767   Document 1   Filed 05/03/19   Page 20 of 34



 

21 
COMPLAINT FOR DECLATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Maldonado expressed her apprehension regarding the funding decisions and stated that she was 

“surprised to see some of the agencies who have done good work in the past not funded at all.” Dr. 

Maldonado’s most significant concern, however, laid with the Ad-hoc Selection Panel’s 

recommendation to award the majority of funding to RWS, which the Programs Committee voted 

to accept. In Dr. Maldonado’s words: 

 

The biggest angst with all of this is to see one agency, whose headquarters 

are in Louisville, KY and an agency who makes money by establishing 

centers across the US, awarded Nevada dollars. Not only are they awarded 

these dollars, but they are also replacing agencies with long histories of 

supporting communities which have been continuously underserved. RWS 

will be located at the West Library. How many people can they really serve 

from that location? Will they hire people who look like their clients? Will 

they be culturally competent, understand and empathize with their 

situations? 

 

The population in Las Vegas is growing, yet the number of agencies who 

are serving communities in this capacity are declining. Instead, we should 

be considering increasing our footprint and supporting these communities 

so their services have the outcomes we are looking for. 

 

Finally RWS has over 2,000 people who work for them, giving them a huge 

advantage in the RFP process that smaller, local agencies would never 

have. I think it’s hugely unfair to these smaller agencies and I feel for the 

clients in those regions. I certainly hope there will not be a decline in the 

services offered to them. As an FYI, my sister, when she served as COO of 

a community action agency in Ohio, contracted with RWS for workforce 

services and she described them as a “hot mess.” I certainly hope you aren’t 

making a mistake by basically making them the sole awardee of workforce 

funding in Las Vegas. 

 

 The Workforce Connections Board of Directors is set to meet again on May 9, 2019 to approve 

and finalize the Programs Committee’s recommendation to distribute $10,000,000 of the available 

$14,950,000 to RWS and no WIOA funding to NPI. 

 If the board finalizes that plan—as it is expected to do—NPI will be irreparably harmed. 

Workforce Connections’ RFP Process Also Suffered from Improper Conflicts of Interest 

 The 2018 WIOA RFP process was also plagued by conflicts of interest.  

 The WIOA has a provision—29 U.S.C. § 3122(h)—restricting members of local boards and 

standing committees from actions that would represent conflicts of interest. 
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 Workforce Connections board member Jack Martin was placed on the Ad-hoc Selection Panel, 

which voted on which 2018 WIOA RFP applicants should be recommended for funding. But Mr. 

Martin has a direct interest in the applicants selected to provide Title I Youth services because he 

oversees Clark County Juvenile Justice Services, which is affected by programs authorized by the 

WIOA. Mr. Martin did not abstain from participating in and voting on the Ad-hoc Selection Panel, 

even though he admitted during the April 2, 2019 Programs Committee meeting that he had a 

conflict of interest.  

 Workforce Connections board member Peter Guzman was also placed on the Ad-hoc Selection 

Panel. During the April 2, 2019 Programs Committee meeting, Mr. Guzman admitted that he had 

a conflict of interest but failed to articulate the reasons for it. He did not abstain from participating 

in and voting on the Ad-hoc Selection Panel.  

 There are also apparent conflicts of interest issues involving Workforce Connections board 

member Louis Loupias. Mr. Loupias was placed on the Ad-hoc Selection Panel despite having a 

direct interest in the applicants selected to provide Title I Adult and Dislocated Worker services 

and Title I Youth services. Mr. Loupias is affiliated with the Southern Nevada Operating Engineers 

of the Joint Apprenticeship Training Center. That center is involved with the local building trades 

and receives direct referrals of potential candidates as apprentice applicants. Mr. Loupias did not 

abstain from participating and voting on the Ad-hoc Selection Panel, but admitted that he had a 

conflict of interest during the April 2, 2019 Programs Committee meeting. 

 Similarly, Workforce Connections board member Lou DeSalvio was placed on the Ad-hoc 

Selection Panel. But Mr. DeSalvio has a direct interest in the applicants selected to provide Title I 

Adult and Dislocated Worker services and Title I Youth services because he is the Training 

Director of the Southern Nevada Laborers Local #872 Training Trust, which is involved with the 

local building trades and receives direct referrals of potential candidates as apprentice applicants. 

Mr. DeSalvio did not abstain from participating and voting on the Ad-hoc Selection Panel, but 

admitted that he had a conflict of interest during the April 2, 2019 Programs Committee meeting. 

 And Workforce Connections board member Marvin Gebers was placed on the Ad-hoc Selection 

Panel. Mr. Gebers has a direct interest in the applicants selected to provide Title I Adult and 
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Dislocated Worker services and Title I Youth services because he is affiliated with Plasterers & 

Cement Masons of the Joint Apprenticeship Training Center, which is involved with the local 

building trades and receives direct referrals of potential candidates as apprentice applicants. Mr. 

Gebers did not abstain from participating and voting on the Ad-hoc Selection Panel. 

 The presence of multiple Workforce Connections board members with conflicts of interest on the 

Ad-hoc Selection Panel violates the conflict of interest requirement under 29 U.S.C. § 3122(h). 

 On information and belief, the 2018 WIOA RFP process was tainted by other conflicts of interest 

about which NPI lacks sufficient information at present. NPI expects to find further details about 

these conflicts of interest in discovery, and it has sent Nevada Attorney General Aaron Ford a 

request to investigate these conflicts of interest and other issues. 

NPI’s Claims Are Timely, and It Has No Avenue for Relief Outside of Court 

 NPI’s claims for relief are timely. Workforce Connections’ Programs Committee already voted to 

award RWS $10,000,000 of the available $14,950,000 in grants and contracts. And it voted to 

award nothing to NPI. The Workforce Connections Board of Directors is set to meet on May 9, 

2019, to approve and finalize those awards. Workforce Connections has given every indication 

that the Board of Directors will do so. Waiting for that last formality will only add further 

procedural hurdles for NPI and delay the time when its claims can be heard. If Defendants are 

allowed to proceed, they will sign contracts and disburse funds based on that unlawful RFP 

process, which will serve to complicate resolution of this matter. 

 Additionally, NPI also has no other plausible avenue for relief outside of this lawsuit. Even if NPI 

could, theoretically, plead its case to Workforce Connections, Mr. Cruz, or the Workforce 

Connections Board of Directors, those parties have shown at every turn that such appeal would be 

useless. The very parties who ran an inherently defective and insufficient RFP process and that 

evinced improper bias against NPI cannot be counted on to suddenly right their own wrongs. To 

force NPI to submit to an almost certainly fruitless appeal to Workforce Connections itself would 

only serve to delay this case and give Defendants the opportunity to begin to disburse grants to 

RWS, their preferred entity. 
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 At base, what NPI seeks is no more than the level playing field Defendants failed to provide and 

the grants it would have been awarded on a level playing field based on its 27 years of excellent 

service in the community. 

On the Whole, Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz Managed 2018 WIOA RFP Process 

in an Improper and Unlawful Manner 

 The manner in which Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz operated the 2018 WIOA RFP 

process, as described in this Complaint, was arbitrary, biased, partial, and irrational. In short, there 

was no legitimate reason for Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz to run the 2018 RFP Process 

as they did, and the way they did so was unlawful. 

 The Defendants acted in an unfairly prejudiced and biased manner toward NPI and treated it 

differently than other similarly situated entities (including, at least, RWS).  Defendants had no 

rational basis for doing so. 

 There was no compelling governmental interest in Workforce Connections’ and Mr. Cruz’s 

actions. And their discriminatory actions were unconnected to any important government interest. 

 The manner in which Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz operated the 2018 WIOA RFP process 

was against the public welfare. Workforce Connections is set to disburse millions of dollars’ worth 

of grants and contracts to at least one organization that would not have received those grants and 

contracts had the process been conducted in a fair and unbiased manner. 

 On information and belief, Defendant Mr. Cruz knew of and directed the conduct alleged in this 

Complaint.  On information and belief, it was through Mr. Cruz and at his direction that Workforce 

Connections conducted the 2018 WIOA RFP Process in the manner that it did. 

 In overseeing and directing the 2018 WIOA RFP Process to distribute millions of dollars in 

government grants, Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz were acting under color of law—

including under color of Nevada law, regulation, and custom—in their roles as Southern Nevada’s 

officially designated local workforce development board and the Executive Director thereof. 

 If Workforce Connections and Mr. Cruz had conducted the 2018 WIOA RFP Process in a fair, 

lawful, and constitutional manner, NPI would have received grants and/or contracts that it is not 

set to receive after the improper process Defendants conducted. 
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 CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

 

First Claim for Relief (Against All Defendants) 

Violation of Procedural Due Process Rights  

U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1; Nev. CONST., Art. 1, § 8; 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

 The above paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

 NPI has a right under the Procedural Due Process Clauses of the United States Constitution and 

the Nevada Constitution to constitutionally adequate procedures in Defendants’ actions, including 

Defendants’ selection of grant and contract recipients. See U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1; Nev. 

CONST., Art. 1, § 8; 42 U.S.C. § 1983. These rights include the rights to an impartial decision 

maker, sufficient notice, an adequate and fair hearing, other adequate and fair procedures, and the 

right to receive grants and contracts it would have been awarded under a constitutional procedure. 

 Through its role as Nevada’s officially designated Local Workforce Development Board through 

which government grantees and contracts are selected and through which government grants are 

distributed, Defendant Workforce Connections is a governmental unit subject to constitutional 

limitations.  

 Defendants also act as agents of state and local government entities. 

 Defendants’ actions deprived NPI of an adequate and fair process in the 2018 WIOA RFP 

procedures. 

 Defendants’ actions deprived NPI of the grants and contracts it would (or, at least, could) have 

been awarded had the process been fair and adequate.  

 Defendants’ conduct violated NPI’s rights guaranteed by the Procedural Due Process Clauses of 

the United States Constitution and the Nevada Constitution and by 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 By virtue of Defendants’ intention to undertake such unlawful conduct, Plaintiff is entitled, against 

Defendants, to such relief as the Court deems proper, including but not limited to declaratory relief, 

injunctive relief, and the costs and expenses of this action, including Plaintiff’s reasonable 

attorneys’ fees. 
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Second Claim for Relief (Against All Defendants) 

Violation of Substantive Due Process Rights  

U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1; Nev. CONST., Art. 1, § 8; 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

 The above paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

 NPI has a right under the Substantive Due Process Clauses of the United States Constitution and 

the Nevada Constitution to receive the grants and contracts it would have been awarded if 

Defendants’ RFP procedure had been undertaken in a constitutional manner. See U.S. CONST. 

amend. XIV, § 1; Nev. CONST., Art. 1, § 8; 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 Defendants did not undertake the RFP process in a constitutional manner. Instead, they operated 

with malice toward NPI, with unfair bias against NPI, on a pretextual basis, in an arbitrary manner, 

and with sudden and inexplicable changes in course and harmed NPI and favored RWS.  

 Defendants’ actions violated NPI’s Due Process rights to an impartial decision maker, sufficient 

notice, an adequate and fair hearing, other adequate and fair procedures, and the right to receive 

grants and contracts it would have been awarded under a constitutional procedure. These actions 

were arbitrary, they were unreasonable, and they bore no meaningful relationship to public 

welfare. 

 Defendants’ actions ran against the public interest. 

 Through its role as Nevada’s officially designated Local Workforce Development Board through 

which government grantees and contracts are selected and through which government grants are 

distributed, Defendant Workforce Connections is a governmental unit subject to constitutional 

limitations.  

 Defendants also act as agents of state and local government entities. 

 Defendants’ actions deprived NPI the grants and contracts it would (or, at least, could) have been 

awarded under an adequate and fair process in the 2018 WIOA RFP procedures. 

 Defendants’ conduct violated NPI’s rights guaranteed by the Substantive Due Process Clauses of 

the United States Constitution and the Nevada Constitution and by 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 By virtue of Defendants’ intention to undertake such unlawful conduct, Plaintiff is entitled, against 

Defendants, to such relief as the Court deems proper, including but not limited to declaratory relief, 
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injunctive relief, and the costs and expenses of this action, including Plaintiff’s reasonable 

attorneys’ fees. 

Third Claim for Relief (Against All Defendants) 

Violation of Equal Protection Rights  

U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1; Nev. CONST., Art. 4, § 21; 42 U.S.C. § 1983 

 The above paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

 NPI has a right under the Equal Protection Clauses of the United States Constitution and the 

Nevada Constitution to a fair and adequate RFP processes. See U.S. CONST. amend. XIV, § 1; Nev. 

CONST., Art. 4, § 21; 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Specifically, both Equal Protection Clauses guarantee that 

government actors will not divide people or entities into different classes and treat those classes 

differently without a sufficient reason to do so. Both clauses also guarantee that government actors 

will not treat people or entities in an irrational and arbitrary manner. 

 A “class” or “group” for Equal Protection Clause purposes can exist with only one member. 

 Defendants treated NPI differently than other similarly situated entities—including, at least, 

RWS—in the 2018 WIOA RFP process. There was no sufficient, rational, or adequate basis for 

Defendants to do so. 

 Defendants intentionally undertook the acts described in this Complaint. 

 Defendants acted without rational basis in the actions described in this Complaint, such as 

instituting the “cash match” requirement and removing the “past performance” criterion, both of 

which helped RWS at NPI’s expense. 

 Defendants’ actions violated NPI’s Equal Protection rights. 

 Through its role as Nevada’s officially designated Local Workforce Development Board through 

which government grantees and contracts are selected and through which government grants are 

distributed, Defendant Workforce Connections is a governmental unit subject to constitutional 

limitations.  

 Defendants also act as agents of state and local government entities. 
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 Defendants’ actions deprived NPI the grants and contracts it would (or, at least, could) have been 

awarded under an adequate and fair process in the 2018 WIOA RFP procedures and had 

Defendants not intentionally and improperly treated NPI differently than others similarly situated. 

 Defendants’ conduct violated NPI’s rights guaranteed by the Equal Protection Clauses of the 

United States Constitution and the Nevada Constitution and by 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

 By virtue of Defendants’ intention to undertake such unlawful conduct, Plaintiff is entitled, against 

Defendants, to such relief as the Court deems proper, including but not limited to declaratory relief, 

injunctive relief, and the costs and expenses of this action, including Plaintiff’s reasonable 

attorneys’ fees. 

Fourth Claim for Relief (Against All Defendants) 

Violation of Open Meeting Law 

NRS 241.020 

 The above paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

 Under NRS 241.020, except in an emergency, written notice of all meetings must be given at least 

three working days before the meeting. NRS 241.020 (3)(b). 

 Moreover, under NRS 241.020, the public body must provide a copy of the notice to any person 

who has requested notice of the meetings of the public body. NRS 241.020(3)(c). 

 Defendants’ notice of the April 2, 2019 meeting was not posted on their website at least three 

working days before the meeting. 

 In addition, Defendants’ did not provide a copy of the notice to NPI, despite NPI’s request for 

notice of the meetings by electronic mail on March 18, 2019. 

 The course of conduct described herein, taken under color of state law, is unlawful and appropriate 

for declaration by this Court. 

 By virtue of Defendants’ intention to undertake such unlawful conduct, Plaintiff is entitled, against 

Defendants, to such relief as the Court deems proper, including but not limited to declaratory relief, 

injunctive relief, and the costs and expenses of this action, including Plaintiff’s reasonable 

attorneys’ fees. 

Case 2:19-cv-00767   Document 1   Filed 05/03/19   Page 28 of 34



 

29 
COMPLAINT FOR DECLATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Fifth Claim for Relief (Against All Defendants) 

Violation of Competitive Process Requirement 

WIOA, 29 U.S.C. § 3122, et seq. 

 The above paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

 Multiple provisions of the WIOA require that the local workforce development board’s award of 

subgrants or contracts be done on a “competitive” basis. For example, the WIOA mandates that 

the local board, in determining eligible providers for the authorized youth services programs, 

“identify eligible providers of youth workforce investment activities in the local area by awarding 

grants or contracts on a competitive basis.” 29 U.S.C. § 3122(d)(1)(B)(i) (emphasis added); see 

also NRS 232.935(4)(d)(1) (mandating “[g]uidelines for the submission and review of applications 

to receive grants of money from the Department [of Employment, Training, and Rehabilitation].”). 

 Similarly, the WIOA requires that each local board develop and submit to the governor a four-year 

local plan. 29 U.S.C. §3123(a). The local plan must include “a description of the competitive 

process to be used to award the subgrants and contracts in the local area for activities carried out 

under [the WIOA].” 29 U.S.C. § 3123(b)(16). 

 Defendants violated this requirement for a competitive process in several ways: 

a. Defendants’ targeted decision to notice NPI for the WIOA monitoring process on 

December 23, 2018, a Sunday, and the day before NPI closed for the holidays, violates the 

WIOA’s requirement for a competitive subgrant award process. 

b. Defendants’ decision to schedule NPI for the intrusive WIOA monitoring process during 

the ten days immediately before the submission deadline for the 2018 WIOA RFPs violates 

the WIOA’s requirement for a competitive subgrant award process. 

c. Defendants’ notice to the 2018 WIOA RFP applicants of the removal of certain evaluation 

factors after the submission deadline passed violates the WIOA’s requirement for a 

competitive subgrant award process. 

d. Defendants’ decision to arbitrarily remove additional sections of the 2018 WIOA RFP 

submissions from the evaluation process by the third-party evaluator, after the submission 

deadline passed, violates the WIOA’s requirement for a competitive subgrant award 

process. 
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e. The Workforce Connections Programs Committee’s decision to adopt the funding 

recommendations for RWS from the Ad-hoc Selection Panel, despite overwhelming 

concerns from the community and certain members of the Programs Committee itself, 

violates the WIOA’s requirement for a competitive subgrant award process. 

f. The Programs Committee’s decision to adopt the funding recommendations for RWS from 

the Ad-hoc Selection Panel, despite RWS’s multiple “pink papers” and other indications 

of inadequate performance, violates the WIOA’s requirement for a competitive subgrant 

award process. 

 The course of conduct described herein, taken under color of state law, is unlawful and appropriate 

for declaration by this Court pursuant to federal statute. 

 By virtue of Defendants’ intention to undertake such unlawful conduct, Plaintiff is entitled, against 

Defendants, to such relief as the Court deems proper, including but not limited to declaratory relief, 

injunctive relief, and the costs and expenses of this action, including Plaintiff’s reasonable 

attorneys’ fees. 

Sixth Claim for Relief (Against All Defendants) 

Violation of Performance Accountability Measures Requirement 

WIOA, 29 U.S.C. § 3141, et seq. 

 The above paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

 The WIOA provides a list of “primary indicators of performance” for activities provided under the 

authorized programs. 29 U.S.C. § 3141(b)(2)(A)(i)-(ii); see also NRS 232.935(4)(d)(1) 

(mandating “[g]uidelines for the submission and review of applications to receive grants of money 

from the Department [of Employment, Training, and Rehabilitation].”). 

 Defendants’ decision to remove “past performance” as an evaluation factor for pre-existing service 

providers who bid for the 2018 WIOA RFPs violated the requirement to consider the “primary 

indicators of performance,” as established by the WIOA. 

 The Programs Committee’s decision to adopt the funding recommendations for RWS from the Ad-

hoc Selection Panel, despite RWS’s multiple “pink papers” and other indications of inadequate 
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past performance, violates the WIOA’s requirement to consider the “primary indicators of 

performance.” 

 The course of conduct described herein, taken under color of state law, is unlawful and appropriate 

for declaration by this Court pursuant to federal statute. 

 By virtue of Defendants’ intention to undertake such unlawful conduct, Plaintiff is entitled, against 

Defendants, to such relief as the Court deems proper, including but not limited to declaratory relief, 

injunctive relief, and the costs and expenses of this action, including Plaintiff’s reasonable 

attorneys’ fees. 

Seventh Claim for Relief (Against All Defendants) 

Violation of the Conflict of Interest Provision  

WIOA, 29 U.S.C. § 3122(h), et seq. 

 The above paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

 WIOA dictates that a member of a local board, or a member of a standing committee, may not: 

 

(1) vote on a matter under consideration by the local board— 

 

(A) regarding the provision of services by such member (or by an 

entity that such member represents); or 

 

(B) that would provide direct financial benefit to such member or 

the immediate family of such member; or 

 

(2) engage in any other activity determined by the Governor to constitute a 

conflict of interest as specified in the State plan. 

 

29 U.S.C. § 3122(h); see also NRS 232.935(4)(d)(1) (mandating “[g]uidelines for the submission 

and review of applications to receive grants of money from the Department [of Employment, 

Training, and Rehabilitation]”). 

 Workforce Connections board members Jack Martin, Peter Guzman, Louis Loupias, Lou 

DeSalvio, and Marvin Gebers participated in Workforce Connections’ 2018 WIOA RFP process 

despite conflicts of interest. 

 The presence of multiple Workforce Connections board members with conflicts of interest on the 

Ad-hoc Selection Panel violates the conflict of interest requirement under 29 U.S.C. § 3122(h). 

 Defendants were aware or should have been aware of these conflicts of interest. 
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 The course of conduct described herein, taken under color of state law, is unlawful and appropriate 

for declaration by this Court pursuant to federal statute. 

 By virtue of Defendants’ intention to undertake such unlawful conduct, Plaintiff is entitled, against 

Defendants, to such relief as the Court deems proper, including but not limited to declaratory relief, 

injunctive relief, and the costs and expenses of this action, including Plaintiff’s reasonable 

attorneys’ fees. 

Eighth Claim for Relief (Against All Defendants) 

Injunctive Relief 

42 U.S.C. § 1983; NRS 33.010 et seq.; Fed. R. Civ. P. 65 

 The above paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference. 

 Defendants’ conduct described in this Complaint is subject to preliminary and permanent 

injunction under at least 42 U.S.C. § 1983, NRS 33.010 et seq., and Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 

65. 

 If Defendants are not enjoined, they will continue to oversee the 2018 WIOA RFP process in an 

improper, unlawful, and unconstitutional manner. They will sign contracts and disburse grants 

based on that flawed and unlawful process. 

 Given the nature of Defendants’ conduct, NPI is likely to succeed on the merits. As described in 

this Complaint, Defendants ran the 2018 WIOA RFP process in a way that violated the WIOA, 

state law, the United States Constitution, and the Nevada Constitution.  

 If Defendants are not enjoined, they will make selections and disbursements for grants and 

contracts based on the improper, unlawful, and unconstitutional 2018 WIOA RFP process, which 

will irreparably harm NPI and members of the South Nevada community at large.  

 The injury NPI will suffer if Defendants are not enjoined would be irreparable. NPI would miss 

grants and contracts it would—or, at least, could—have been awarded under a proper process. It 

would be forced to reduce drastically the services it has provided to the community for the last 27 

years. To Defendants, an injunction would cause no more than an inconvenience. NPI seeks only 

to ensure that a lawful and fair process is followed for the 2018 WIOA RFPs. 

Case 2:19-cv-00767   Document 1   Filed 05/03/19   Page 32 of 34



 

33 
COMPLAINT FOR DECLATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 The grant of preliminary and permanent injunctions is in the public interest. The public has an 

interest in its tax money—in the form of WIOA grants and related contracts—being granted and 

disbursed in a lawful manner and to the best applicants, which will provide the best services. As 

described above, NPI has been lauded for its decades of service to the community. RWS, which 

would be awarded millions absent an injunction, has received numerous “pink paper” violations 

related to its work, including at least five that were open as of March 2019. 

 A preliminary injunction would preserve the status quo for a hearing on the merits. 

 By virtue of Defendants’ intention to undertake such unlawful conduct, Plaintiff is entitled, against 

Defendants, to such relief as the Court deems proper, including but not limited to declaratory relief, 

injunctive relief, and the costs and expenses of this action, including Plaintiff’s reasonable 

attorneys’ fees. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff NPI requests the following relief, and prays this Court to: 

1. Assume jurisdiction over this action; 

 Issue a declaration that Defendants’ conduct regarding the 2018 WIOA RFP process— 

a. Violates Plaintiff’s Procedural Due Process rights under the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the U.S. Constitution; Article 1, section 8 of the Nevada 

Constitution; and 42 U.S.C. § 1983; 

b. Violates Plaintiff’s Substantive Due Process rights under the Fourteenth 

Amendment of the U.S. Constitution; Article 1, section 8 of the Nevada 

Constitution; and 42 U.S.C. § 1983;  

c. Violates of Plaintiff’s Equal Protection rights under the Fourteenth Amendment of 

the U.S. Constitution; Article 4, section 21 of the Nevada Constitution; and 42 

U.S.C. § 1983; 

d. Violates NRS 241.020, Nevada’s Open Meeting Law; 

e. Violates Section 3122 of the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act; 

f. Violates Section 3141 of the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act; and 

g. Violates Section 3122(h) of the Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act; 
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 Enter judgment against Defendants and in favor of Plaintiff on all claims asserted in this 

Complaint; 

 Issue preliminary and permanent injunctions restraining Defendants, their agents, 

employees, and successors in office or position from further implementing the Ad-hoc 

Selection Panel’s recommendations to grant $10,000,000 to RWS and nothing to NPI; 

 Award to Plaintiff the costs of suit and attorneys’ fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and 

 Grant such other relief as is just and proper, as this Court may allow and so rule.  

 

DATED this May 3, 2019 

 

 

 /s/ Phung H. Jefferson   

 

Phung H. Jefferson (Nev. Bar No. 7761) 

THE LAW OFFICE OF PHUNG H. 

JEFFERSON, ESQ. PC 

1448 E. Charleston Blvd. 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 

Tel.: 702-382-4061 

Fax: 702-382-4071 

Email: phj@pjlaw.org 

 

Edward Rippey (application for admission pro 

hac vice forthcoming) 

Matthew V. Miller (application for admission 

pro hac vice forthcoming) 

COVINGTON & BURLING LLP 

850 Tenth St. NW 

Washington, DC 20001 

Tel.: 202-662-6000 

Fax: 202-662-6291 

Email: erippey@cov.com, mmiller@cov.com 

 

Hannah Jiam (application for admission pro hac 

vice forthcoming) 

COVINGTON & BURLING LLP 

Salesforce Tower, 415 Mission Street 

San Francisco, CA 94105-2533 

Tel: 415-591-7000 

Email: hjiam@cov.com 

 Attorneys for Plaintiff Nevada Partners, Inc. 

 

*The attorneys who are not members of the Nevada Bar and 

are not admitted to practice in this Court will comply with 

LR IA 11-2 within 45 days. 
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JS 44 Reverse  (Rev. 06/17)

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as
required by law, except as provided by local rules of court.  This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is
required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet.  Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of
Court for each civil complaint filed.  The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants.  Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant.  If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use 
only the full name or standard abbreviations.  If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and 
then the official, giving both name and title.

   (b) County of Residence.  For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the 
time of filing.  In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing.  (NOTE: In land 
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)

   (c) Attorneys.  Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record.  If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting
in this section "(see attachment)".

II.  Jurisdiction.  The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings.  Place an "X" 
in one of the boxes.  If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.
United States plaintiff.  (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348.  Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.
United States defendant.  (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.
Federal question.  (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment 
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States.  In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes 
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.
Diversity of citizenship.  (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states.  When Box 4 is checked, the 
citizenship of the different parties must be checked.  (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity 
cases.)

III.  Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties.  This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above.  Mark this
section for each principal party.

IV. Nature of Suit.  Place an "X" in the appropriate box.  If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code 
that is most applicable.  Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.  

V. Origin.  Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.
Original Proceedings.  (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.
Removed from State Court.  (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.  
When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.
Remanded from Appellate Court.  (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action.  Use the date of remand as the filing 
date.
Reinstated or Reopened.  (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court.  Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District.  (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a).  Do not use this for within district transfers or 
multidistrict litigation transfers.
Multidistrict Litigation – Transfer.  (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. 
Section 1407. 
Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File.  (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket. 
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7.  Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to 
changes in statue.

VI. Cause of Action.  Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause.  Do not cite jurisdictional 
statutes unless diversity.  Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553  Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

VII. Requested in Complaint.  Class Action.  Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand.  In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
Jury Demand.  Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

VIII. Related Cases.  This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any.  If there are related pending cases, insert the docket 
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature.  Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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	Brief Description: Defendants unlawfully conducted a process to disburse millions of dollars in government grants.
	Demand: 
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	Organization: 
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	Button: 
	SaveAs: 
	Print1: 
	Reset: 
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	Date: 
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	Plaintiff: NEVADA PARTNERS, INC.
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